Appellant Brief

Filed 05-26-2020

Page 1 of 58

RECEIVED 05-26-2020 CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV Case No. 2020AP160-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ERIC P. ENGEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from Final Orders Regarding a Commitment for Treatment (Incompetency) Entered by the Dane County Circuit Court, Honorable Ellen Berz Presiding, Case No. 2012CF2207

INITIAL BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

COLLEEN D. BALL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1000719

DAVID J. SUSENS Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1099463

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether defense counsel is entitled to receive his client's treatment records without his informed consent, in order to prepare for Chapter 971 proceedings?

The circuit court answered "no."

2. Whether the State offered sufficient evidence to support an order for involuntary medication under *Sell v. U.S.*, 539 U.S. 166 (2003)?

The circuit court answered "yes."

3. Whether the circuit court properly interpreted and applied the automatic stay/motion to lift procedure prescribed by *State v. Scott*, 2018 WI 74, 382 Wis. 2d 476, 914 N.W.2d 141? If so, then whether the circuit court violated Engen's right to 14th Amendment due process in this case?

The circuit court assumed that a defendant had to file a motion for an "automatic" stay. It then granted an "automatic" stay, encouraged the State to make an oral motion to lift the stay, and then lifted the stay at the same hearing.

4. Whether Wis. Stat. §971.14(5) permits a circuit court to toll the time period for commitment to restore a defendant's competence to proceed in a case?

The circuit court answered "yes."

Case 2020AP000160 Appellant Brief Filed 05-26-2020 Page 10 of 58

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This presents four issues of first case impression that are recurring frequently in the circuit courts. They emanate from State v. Fitzgerald, 2019 WI 69, 387 Wis. 3d 384, 929 N.W.2d 165, a case the Wisconsin Supreme Court took on bypass and which declared parts of §971.14 unconstitutional because they do not comport with Sell v. U.S., 539 U.S. 166 (2003). The issues also stem from the Wisconsin Supreme Court's 3-3 split over State ex rel. Fitzgerald v. Circuit Court for Milwaukee County, Appeal No. 2018AP1214-W, which sought clarification of the automatic stay/lift procedure announced in State v. Scott, 2018 WI 74, 382 Wis. 2d 476, 914 N.W.2d 141. Pursuant to §809.23, the court of appeals should publish its decision because the circuit courts, prosecutors and defense lawyers really need guidance on all four of these issues.

Counsel for Engen welcomes oral argument, if the court of appeals would find it helpful for resolving the issues for review. Wis. Stat. §809.22.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

On April 11, 2013, a jury convicted Eric Engen of two counts of stalking and two misdemeanor counts of violating a harassment restraining order. (R.124). The court sentenced him to 18 months of initial confinement and 24 months of extended supervision on one count of stalking. It imposed consecutive three-month prison sentences for each misdemeanor. On the remaining count of stalking,

Case 2020AP000160 Appellant Brief Filed 05-26-2020 Page 11 of 58

the court placed Engen on probation for 5 years, which ran consecutive to the other three sentences. (R.169). Engen was placed on a probation hold on February 21, 2019, and is currently facing revocation. (R.173:19-20; App. 130-131). At the request of an administrative law judge, the court ordered a competency evaluation on July 18, 2019. (R.139).

Competency Proceeding

Dr. Nancy Elliott examined Engen and prepared a report finding him incompetent for revocation proceedings due to persistent, fixed, delusional beliefs. She also found him incompetent to make medication or treatment decisions. Her report stated that she lacked Engen's medical records and the records of an alleged previous "civil commitment during which he received involuntary medications without benefit." (R.140:2).

As such, I am unable to offer an opinion on the likelihood of restoration to any reasonable degree of psychological certainty with the information currently available. (R.140:2-3).

At the September 23, 2019 competency hearing, Dr. Elliott testified that she did not review any collateral information before preparing her report because none was available. Thus, she did not know for sure whether Engen had ever been hospitalized, treated, or medicated before. (R.171:16; App. 212). She said that delusional symptoms are not always treatable by psychiatric medication. She needed objective information about prior attempts to treat Engen. She did not have it. She reiterated that she

Case 2020AP000160 Appellant Brief Filed 05-26-2020 Page 12 of 58

could not opine that medication would restore Engen to competency. (R.171:14-15; App. 210-211)

When asked whether Engen posed a current risk of harm to himself or others if not medicated, Dr. Elliott replied that she did not evaluate the matter. (R.171:20; App. 216).

The circuit court held Engen incompetent, but found the evidence insufficient to order involuntary medication under *Sell* and *Fitzgerald*. It thus ordered him committed for treatment to competency. (R.142, R.171:24; App. 220).

Involuntary Medication Proceeding

One month later, on October 23, 2019, the State filed a Motion to Compel Production of Health Care Records. It noted that Dr. Elliott had requested, but never received, Engen's health care records so she could not offer an opinion about whether the administration of drugs would satisfy the *Sell* factors. (R.143:1-2; App. 229-230). After the September 23rd hearing, Detective Deb Plantz received an email from a person purporting to be Engen's sister who said he had received unspecified medication at Winnebago in the past and it worked. (*Id.*).

The State requested access to Engen's health treatment records but he would not sign a release. The State then sought the records from DOC and DHS, but they would not provide them without a court order pursuant to HIPPA, 45 CFR §164.512(e)(l)(i) and (f)(l)(ii)(A). (R.143:3; App. 231). Accordingly, the State moved the circuit court for an order to compel the production of Engen's records and

Case 2020AP000160 Appellant Brief Filed 05-26-2020 Page 13 of 58

to distribute them "to Dr. Elliott and *the parties*" for the purpose of "meeting the legal requirement of a basis upon which to order involuntary administration medication the Defendant to restore competence." (R.143:4; 232). (Emphasis App. supplied). On November 4, 2019, the court ordered DOC to the produce to it any and all mental health treatment records for Engen. (R.146:1; App. 105). The records were not provided to the parties.

On December 30, 2019, Dr. John Pankiewicz filed a progress report opining that Engen was still not competent to proceed. Pankiewicz repeatedly described Engen as delusional but did not offer a diagnosis. He nevertheless recommended involuntary medication to restore Engen's competency. (R. 147).

The court held an involuntary medication hearing on January 16, 2020. Engen was angry to be there. He said to the court: "Take that fucking shit. Fuck you bitch. You fucking cunt. Die, you miserable bitch. You die. You can't even answer my mail?" (R. 172:3; App. 161). The court removed him from the hearing and considered his appearance waived. (R.172:3-4; App. 161-162).

At the hearing defense counsel brought two matters to the court's attention: (1) Dr. Pankiewicz had not cited any medical evidence to support his recommendation for involuntary medication, and (2) the court had ordered Engen's medical records to be produced, but they had not been provided to counsel. (R.172:6-7; App. 164-165).

Counsel explained that the court could not order involuntary medication to restore Engen's

Case 2020AP000160 Appellant Brief Filed 05-26-2020 Page 14 of 58

competency without finding clear and convincing evidence of the four *Sell* factors, some of which require medical evidence. Without Engen's treatment records, counsel could not assess Engen's condition or whether medication was in his best medical interests. Nor could he effectively cross-examine Dr. Pankiewicz on the *Sell* factors. (R.172:6; App. 164).

The court replied: "I don't think you want me to violate your client's HIPPA [rights] by releasing medical documentation that your client does not want released." (R.172:7; App. 165). The court said that if Engen, who had been declared incompetent to make treatment decisions, decided not to release his treatment records, his defense would be "hamstrung," and it was his own fault. (R.172:7; App. 165). It proceeded with the hearing.

The State first called Dr. Pankiewicz, who testified that:

- He reviewed only Engen's records for his most recent admission at WRC and Dr. Elliott's competency assessment. He did not review any other medical records for Engen. (R.172:11-12; App. 169-170).
- He noted that WRC records referenced a possible Chapter 51 commitment but did not know which medication, if any, was given to

¹ In other words, Dr. Pankiewicz lacked the mental health treatment records that both Dr. Elliott and the State said were necessary for applying *Sell*. (R.143:1-4; App. 229-232).

Case 2020AP000160 Appellant Brief Filed 05-26-2020 Page 15 of 58

Engen or its effects on Engen. (R.172:12; App. 170).

- Engen's "most likely specific diagnosis would be delusional disorder." (R.172:13; App. 171).
- He did not have a specific medication in mind for Engen. (*Id.*).
- He did not know whether Engen would experience any side effects from medication (R.172:14; App. 172). DHS doctors would try one drug. If it had adverse side effects they would stop and try a second one and so forth until they found one that worked and did not interfere with Engen's ability to engage in his defense or with counsel. (R.172:14-16; App. 172-174).
- He did not communicate with Engen's sister or see any information from her about how Engen allegedly responded to medication in the past. (R.172:15; App. 173).

Dr. Pankiewicz's report did not opine that Engen posed any risk of harm to himself or others. (R.172:10-18; App. 168-176). And the State did not ask him about this subject at the hearing.

The State then called detective sergeant Deb Plantz, who testified that she received an email from someone claiming to be Engen's sister, who wrote that Engen had benefitted from medication in the past. (R.172:20-21; App. 178-179). The State did not call this woman to the stand, and no one read the email into the record.

Page 16 of 58 Case 2020AP000160 Appellant Brief Filed 05-26-2020

> The State requested involuntary medication, and the defense opposed because the State had not presented evidence satisfying the Sell factors. (R.172:22-30, 33-36; App. 180-188, 191-194). The court sided with the State. (R.153:1-2; App. 103-104). Here is its entire rationale:

> > I do find that all of the factors have been satisfied. I'm utilizing not only the evidence presented today, but also the fact that I sat through a trial of this case and am very familiar with the danger Mr. Engen posed to his victim. Then, of course, we have his conduct today which is rather self-evident.

> > So I'm going to make the findings indicated on the order of commitment for treatment, involuntary administration of medication. No. 3B², and it is granted. (R.172:36-37; App. 194-195).

Automatic Stay/Lift/Toll Proceeding

Immediately after the January 16th hearing, defense counsel filed an Emergency Motion for Automatic Stay of Involuntary Medication and a Notice of Appeal. (R.154, 155). The motion alerted the court to the fact that Engen was entitled to an automatic stay of involuntary medication pending his appeal as a matter of right under *Scott*.³

On January 17th, the State filed a Motion to Toll Statutory Time to Bring Defendant to Competence.

³ Engen does not concede that he was required to move for an

"automatic" stay. Counsel took all necessary measures to protect his

² Paragraph No. 3B lists the *Sell* factors.

Case 2020AP000160 Appellant Brief Filed 05-26-2020 Page 17 of 58

(R.156:1-7; App. 222-228). The State explained that it was not moving to lift the stay at that time because doing so would "take more time off the competency clock and the State believes it doesn't have that much time left given the Defendant's level of psychosis and the amount of time, after the medication is administered, it will take to restore the Defendant to competence." (R.156; App. 227).

The court held another hearing on January 21, 2020, where the State conceded that Engen had a right to appeal and a right to an automatic stay. (R.173:4-5; App. 115-116). The State also explained that it did not file a motion to lift the stay because *Scott* at ¶47 appears to indicate that the motion must be filed in the court of appeals. (R.173:9-10; App. 120-121).

The State noted that as of January 21st it had lost 4 months of the 12 month period for competency restoration. If Engen was not brought to competency within the next 8 months it was "empowered" to file a Chapter 51 petition under §971.14(6)(c). However, if Engen insisted on appealing then it preferred to have the statutory period to restore competence tolled. (R.173:14-16; App. 125-127).

The State said:

[L]et him have his appeal, let them all say we did fine in what I'm confident will be a per curiam unpublished opinion, and then we can administer medications and then we can bring him to competence and then we can have our revocation hearing. (R.173:17; App. 128).

Case 2020AP000160 Appellant Brief Filed 05-26-2020 Page 18 of 58

The court and the parties then examined Engen's sentence and the timeline of revocation proceedings and agreed that:

- If the court were to revoke Engen on Count 2, his potential sentence would be 3.5 years, with a maximum initial incarceration of 18 months and a maximum extended supervision of 2 years. (R.173:18-19; App. 129-130).
- Engen's arrest date for allegedly violating probation conditions was February 21, 2019. (R.173:20; App. 131).
- As of January 21, 2020, Engen was entitled to 344 days of sentence credit toward his ultimate sentence. (*Id.*).
- Assuming that Engen received the maximum sentence, by the end of his appeal he could only serve the extended supervision portion of it. (*Id.*).

The court asked the State if it wanted to make a motion to lift the stay. The State replied that it wasn't sure that it could due to §808.075 and *Scott*. (R.173:21; App. 132). After receiving the court's blessing, the State made an extended argument that Engen required medication under *State v. Dennis H.*, 2002 WI 104, 255 Wis. 2d 359, 647 N.W.2d 851, because of the potential for "self-harm," meaning that he could not control his thoughts and actions and

Case 2020AP000160 Appellant Brief Filed 05-26-2020 Page 19 of 58

then would treat others as he treated the court. (R.173:22-24; App. 133-135).⁴

The State argued that Engen failed to prove through medical testimony that Engen could "self-repair" or "be repaired by the system." (R.173:25; App. 136). It argued that Engen would not suffer irreparable harm because involuntary medication would stop his psychotic thinking. (R.173:26; App. 137). If the medication caused side effects, the doctors would stop and try a new one. (R.173:26-27; App. 137-138). Because no one else—the State, the public or the victim—would be injured by a lift of the stay, the court should lift it. (R.173:26-28; App. 137-139).

Defense counsel asked the court to deny the State's motion to toll. Neither the statute nor Scott made any exceptions to the periods for restoring a defendant's competence. Only the legislature could change the statute to add a tolling mechanism. (R.173:29-30; App. 140-141). Counsel also pointed out that the State had not addressed whether treatment other than medication would help Engen. The State sought involuntary medication in *Fitzgerald* and *Sell*, defendants ultimately and yet both became competent without antipsychotic medication. (R.173:31; App. 142).

Defense counsel also argued that the State's surprise oral motion to lift the stay violated Engen's right to procedural due process. He had no notice of the State's arguments and no opportunity to prepare

 $^{^4}$ *Dennis H.* addressed the constitutionality of \$51.20(2)(e), which applies to Chapter 51 proceedings not Chapter 971 proceedings.

Case 2020AP000160 Appellant Brief Filed 05-26-2020 Page 20 of 58

a defense to them. (R.173:33-36; App. 144-147). In fact, the State's motion indicated that it was not requesting a lift of the automatic stay at that time. (R.173:35-36; App. 146-147).

The circuit court granted the State's motion to toll because:

[T]he whole point of commitment is to get proper treatment. If a defendant takes steps to ensure that he does not get the proper treatment—and by the way, it's unrefuted that the only treatment that could possibly bring him to competence would be medication. If that proper is withheld treatment based on machinations used to delay and use up the commitment period, it makes no sense for the time of commitment period to continue running. (R.173:41-42; App. 152-153). (Emphasis supplied).

The circuit court called Engen's appeal a "sham," "granted" the "automatic" stay and then immediately lifted it because the State's argument was "unrefuted and extremely, extremely strong." (R.173:42-44; App. 153-155).

The court also held that Engen would not suffer irreparable harm. "The worst that will happen is that he will not be haunted by these psychotic beliefs and terrors that he faces, clearly every moment." (R.173:44; App. 155-156). The court said that lifting the stay would harm no one else either. (R.173:45; 156). Accordingly, immediately after ordering the stay, the court lifted it. (R.158:1-2; App. 101-102). Engen filed an Amended Notice of Appeal to include

Case 2020AP000160 Appellant Brief Filed 05-26-2020 Page 21 of 58

the order lifting the stay and granting the motion to toll. (R.159).

Engen also filed a Motion for Emergency Temporary Relief and Motion for Stay Pending Appeal with the court of appeals. The court of appeals temporarily stayed involuntary medication so the parties could file briefs on the matter. On March 2, 2020, it granted Engen's motion and reinstated the automatic stay pending Engen's appeal of the circuit court's involuntary medication order. (App. 106-111). Contrary to the circuit court, the court of appeals held that the State failed to show that it was likely to succeed on the first *Sell* factor or that Engen would not suffer irreparable harm without a stay. (*Id.*).

ARGUMENT

I. The Sell factors.

Sell has been binding on Wisconsin courts since it was decided in 2003. However, §971.14(3)(dm) and (4)(b) do not comport with Sell. Thus, last term the Wisconsin Supreme Court declared these provisions unconstitutional to the extent that they allow circuit courts to order the involuntary administration of antipsychotic medication to restore a defendant's competency in violation of Sell. Fitzgerald, ¶2. The legislature has not repealed or amended §971.14. However, Wisconsin must still comply with Sell. Fitzgerald, ¶31-32.

Resolution of all four issues for review requires an understanding of what the State must show and Case 2020AP000160 Appellant Brief Filed 05-26-2020 Page 22 of 58

the circuit court must find under *Sell*. Thus, this brief begins with an exposition of *Sell*'s stringent test.

This standard will permit involuntary administration of drugs for trial competence purposes in certain instances. **But those instances may be rare**. That is because the standard fairly implies the following:

First, a *court must find that* <u>important</u> *interests are at stake.* The Government's interest in bringing to trial an individual accused of a serious crime is important. That is so whether the offense is a serious crime against the person or a serious crime against property. In both instances the Government seeks to protect through application of the criminal law the basic human need for security. See Riggins, supra, at 135–136, 112 S.Ct. 1810 ("[P]ower to bring an accused to trial is fundamental to a scheme of "ordered liberty" and prerequisite to social justice and peace'" (quoting Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 347, 90 S.Ct. 1057, 25 L.Ed.2d 353 (1970) (Brennan, J., concurring)).

Courts, however, must consider the facts of the individual case in evaluating the Government's interest in prosecution. Special circumstances may lessen the importance of that interest. The defendant's failure to take drugs voluntarily, for example, may mean lengthy confinement in an institution for the mentally ill—and that would diminish the risks that ordinarily attach to freeing without punishment one who has committed a serious crime. We do not mean to suggest that civil commitment is a substitute for a criminal trial. The Government has a substantial interest in timely prosecution. And it

Case 2020AP000160 Appellant Brief Filed 05-26-2020 Page 23 of 58

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