RECEIVED
08-31-2020
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2020AP160-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ERIC P. ENGEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM INVOLUNTARY MEDICATION ORDER, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DANE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE ELLEN BERZ PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

MAURA WHELAN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1027974

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-3859 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) whelanmf@doj.state.wi.us Case 2020AP000160

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

2. The State failed to satisfy the second, third, and fourth *Sell* factors.

The State concedes that the circuit court order does not satisfy the other three *Sell* factors because the State did not

Case 2020AP000160 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-31-2020 Page 19 of 33

provide an individualized treatment plan. As noted, an individualized treatment plan provides the foundation for the second, third, and fourth *Sell* factors. Without an individualized treatment plan, the other factors cannot be satisfied, because the plan guides the court's decisions about whether involuntary medication will further the State's interest, is necessary to achieve those interests, and is medically appropriate. *See Chavez*, 734 F.3d at 1254; *Barrus*, 456 P.3d at 579–80, 585–86.

Engen opposed the State's Motion to Vacate and Remand for Further Proceedings in part to provide guidance in his case and other future *Sell* proceedings. (Engen's Mot. Resp. 4–5.) But beyond imposing an individualized-treatment-plan requirement, and directing the circuit court to analyze the last three *Sell* factors in light of that plan, this Court should not use this case to develop Wisconsin's *Sell* case law.

Here, Engen argues and the State concedes that the State's evidence in this case was inadequate. But this Court cannot determine from this argument and concession the evidence that will be adequate in all cases. Like any other evidence-based proceeding, there is no cookie-cutter body of evidence that will satisfy the evidentiary standard in every involuntary medication proceeding. For example, in one case, extensive information about a defendant's personal experience with the recommended antipsychotic medications will obviate the need for general peer-reviewed studies about the use of those medications. In another case, such studies may, if available, bolster the State's case where historical treatment information about the individual defendant is not available. Thus, the evidence that will be adequate in those two hypothetical cases will necessarily be different. The courts must develop the governing standards based on actual cases. To declare evidentiary requirements on the basis of Case 2020AP000160 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-31-2020 Page 20 of 33

what is here an uncontested record would be tantamount to an advisory opinion.

The same is true for declaring what the circuit court's order must sanction and contain. Ideally, the court's order should approve a definitive and permanent treatment plan for the defendant. But, depending on the state and quality of the evidence the State is able to present at the involuntary medication hearing, the court might approve the State's motion subject to further medical assessment and judicial oversight. With strict controls, such an order could be a valid exercise of judicial oversight under *Sell* even if it fails to meet the standard of an ideal order. As long as the order ensures judicial oversight of the defendant's treatment, it should be affirmed. *See Chavez*, 734 F.3d at 1254; *Evans*, 404 F.3d at 241; *Warren*, 778 S.E.2d at 764.

3. Engen's reliance on federal case law regarding defendants with Delusional Disorder, Grandiose Type and Persecutory Type are irrelevant because Engen has not been diagnosed with either disorder.

Engen cites several cases in which the federal courts have vacated *Sell* orders for defendants diagnosed with Delusional Disorder, Grandiose Type and Persecutory Type. These cases should be disregarded by this Court for two reasons.

First, Engen has been given neither of these specific diagnoses. In *United States v. Ruiz-Gaxiola*, the Ninth Circuit explained that Delusional Disorder, Grandiose Type must be distinguished (for therapeutic purposes) from delusional aspects or thought processes of other forms of mental illness. 623 F.3d 684, 700 (9th Cir. 2010). Importantly, the court noted, delusional thinking as a symptom of schizophrenia may be amenable to treatment with antipsychotics, even if

Case 2020AP000160 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-31-2020 Page 21 of 33

Delusional Disorder, Grandiose Type cannot be. *Id.* And, even if someone has a "delusional disorder," he may not have one of the allegedly untreatable types, as there are multiple forms of delusional disorder. *See United States v. Baschmann*, No. 10-CR-300-A, 2015 WL 346719, at *4 (W.D.N.Y. Jan. 23, 2015) (granting involuntary medication order for defendant with "mixed type" delusional disorder). The closest Engen comes to a relevant diagnosis is Dr. Pankiewicz's comment that Engen suffers from "a psychotic disorder. . . . most likely . . . delusional disorder." (R. 172:13.) This falls short of the full-blown diagnosis central to the cases Engen relies on.

Second, the courts have not uniformly accepted the premise that these disorders are untreatable in the *Sell* context, as Engen suggests. In *United States v. Mackey*, 717 F.3d 569, 575–76 (8th Cir. 2013), the court rejected the argument that Delusional Disorder, Grandiose Type is untreatable. *See also United States v. Dillon*, 738 F.3d 284, 297 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (rejecting argument that Delusional Disorder, Grandiose Type is untreatable based on study finding that "73.3% of defendants with Delusional [Disorder] were restored to competency"). Several courts have rejected the argument that Delusional Disorder, Persecutory Type is untreatable. *See*, *e.g.*, *Barrus*, 456 P.3d at 586; *Gillenwater*, 749 F.3d at 1099, 1105.

For these reasons, Engen's discussion of the Delusional Disorder cases is irrelevant.

III. The circuit court's lifting the automatic stay in response to the State's oral motion did not violate State v. Scott, the rules of appellate procedure, or Engen's due process rights.

In State v. Scott, 2018 WI 74, ¶ 43, 382 Wis. 2d 476, 914 N.W.2d 141, the supreme court held that a defendant is entitled to an automatic stay pending appeal of an involuntary medication order. It also held that the State has

a corresponding right to move to lift that stay provided it meets a modified Gudenschwager test. Id. ¶ 45 (citing $State\ v$. Gudenschwager, 191 Wis. 2d 431, 529 N.W.2d 225 (1995)).

Here, the circuit court entered an automatic stay of the involuntary medication order. (R. 173:41.) The State had not filed a written motion to lift the automatic stay, but the court invited the State to make that motion. (R. 173:21–22.) The State then made an oral motion to lift the automatic stay. (R. 173:25–29.) The court granted the oral motion to lift the stay. (R. 173:45.) Engen sought emergency relief in this Court, asking it to vacate the order lifting the automatic stay and reinstate the stay. (R. 159.) This Court granted the requested relief on March 2, 2020.

Regarding the motion and order lifting the automatic stay, Engen asserts three points of error. First, he asserts that the order conflicts with *Scott*, because the circuit court had no jurisdiction to hear the motion, which must be filed (according to Engen) in this Court. Second, the State did not file a written motion, which (Engen argues) violates the governing statutes. Third, the court's issuing the order without a written motion violated Engen's due process rights (in his view). Engen is wrong on all three points.

A. The State's motion to lift an automatic stay may be filed in and decided by the circuit court.⁵

As noted, *Scott* provided the State with an opportunity to move to lift an automatic stay of an involuntary medication

⁵ Because this Court has already granted Engen relief from the circuit court's order lifting the stay, this issue is moot. *See State ex rel. Lindell v. Litscher*, 2005 WI App 39, ¶ 8, 280 Wis. 2d 159, 694 N.W.2d 396. However, the State addresses Engen's argument on the merits and does not argue mootness here because it believes one or more of the exceptions to the mootness doctrine are

order. 382 Wis. 2d 476, ¶¶ 45–48. It explained that, to succeed, the State must satisfy a modified version of the Gudenschwager test. Id. ¶ 47. What the Scott court did not do is specify whether the State's motion must be filed in the circuit court, must be filed in this Court, or may be filed in either court. The issue was not squarely presented in Scott itself. That is because Scott invented the automatic stay and stay-lifting procedure; therefore, the proper venue for these proceedings was not before the court on appeal.

Nevertheless, although the Scott procedures were not yet in effect, the question of whether Scott's involuntary medication order should be stayed was litigated in both the circuit court and this Court. First, the circuit court sua sponte stayed Scott's involuntary medication order pending an interlocutory appeal. Id. ¶ 17. Scott then filed a petition for leave to appeal. This Court denied the petition and lifted the stay imposed by the circuit court. Id. ¶ 18. Later, appealing as of right, Scott filed in this Court an emergency motion to stay the medication order pending appeal, which this Court denied without explanation. Id. ¶ 19. The State filed no motions relating to a stay of the order.

Engen asserts that paragraph 48 of *Scott* "indicated that the court of appeals [not the circuit court] was to decide a motion to lift the stay." (Engen's Br. 37.) He bases this claim not on any explicit mandate in the *Scott* opinion, but on the court's statement that "the *court of appeals* must explain its discretionary decision to grant or deny the State's motion." *Scott*, 382 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 48 (emphasis added). This sentence cannot support the weight Engen puts on it. Without any clear directive in the opinion mandating venue, *Scott*'s requirement that a discretionary decision "must [be] explain[ed]" by this Court cannot be interpreted to mean that

applicable. See State v. Fitzgerald, 2019 WI 69, ¶ 22, 387 Wis. 2d 384, 929 N.W.2d 165.

Case 2020AP000160 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-31-2020 Page 24 of 33

a motion to lift a stay must be filed in this Court. Instead, this language must be understood in the context of the *Scott* proceedings.

In *Scott*, the decision not to stay the challenged order pending appeal was made by this Court, and was made without explanation. Therefore, in announcing the new procedures, the *Scott* court told this Court to explain its reasoning because it was this Court that had failed to provide its reasoning in that case. It is reasonable to assume that if the circuit court had refused to stay proceedings without analysis, the *Scott* would have similarly directed the circuit court to explain its exercise of discretion. Thus, *Scott* left the venue question unanswered.

The supreme court might have provided clarity on this question in Fitzgerald. There, pursuant to Scott, the circuit entered an automatic stay, "but indicated that it would immediately lift the stay on the State's motion." 387 Wis. 2d 384, ¶ 9. Fitzgerald filed a petition for supervisory writ, among other things "challenging the circuit court's plan to lift the automatic stay." Id. This Court denied the petition, finding that the circuit court was the appropriate venue for the State's motion, and Fitzgerald appealed the denial to the supreme court. Id. ¶ 10. The court was equally divided on the issues presented, so this Court's order was affirmed and the proper venue for filing a stay-lifting motion was left unresolved. Id. ¶ 34.

Together, *Scott* and *Fitzgerald* do not answer the venue question, except to establish that Engen's contention that *Scott* clearly puts the sole authority to entertain a motion to lift the automatic stay in this Court is wrong.

In fact, the circuit court is the more appropriate venue for the State's motion to lift the automatic stay.

Scott indicates that the State's motion to lift the automatic stay is a modified Gudenschwager motion. 382 Wis.

Case 2020AP000160 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-31-2020 Page 25 of 33

2d 476, ¶¶ 45–47. A Gudenschwager motion typically originates in the circuit court. See, e.g., Gudenschwager, 191 Wis. 2d at 439–40. So, like a motion for a stay pending appeal under Gudenschwager, a motion to lift a stay pending appeal under Scott is appropriately heard by the circuit court in the first instance rather than this Court "unless it is impractical to seek relief in the trial court." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.12. As with the more familiar Gudenschwager motion, the circuit court is in a better position than this Court is to weigh Scott's fact and equity inquiries, i.e., whether the defendant will suffer irreparable harm if the automatic stay is lifted, whether other interested parties will suffer substantial harm, and whether the public interest will suffer any harm. See Scott, 382 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 45.

Either party can appeal the circuit court's order on the Scott stay-lifting motion to this Court. "A person aggrieved by an order of the trial court granting the relief requested may file a motion for relief from the order with the court [of appeals]." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.12. Importantly, section 809.12 should not be interpreted to require the State to file a Scott stay-lifting motion in this Court rather than the circuit court. After all, an automatic stay under *Scott* is not "an order of the trial court" because the circuit court has no discretion to grant or deny the stay; as Engen points out, it arises by operation of law. (See Engen's Br. 35.) Therefore, the State is not "aggrieved by an order of the trial court." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.12. Moreover, if a Scott stay-lifting motion must originate in this Court, the only avenue of appellate review from the first judicial consideration of the motion would be a petition for review to the supreme court. That process would create judicial inefficiencies and needlessly crowd the supreme court docket with appellate motion practice more appropriate to this Court.

For all these reasons, this Court should hold that the State may file a motion to lift an automatic stay under *Scott*

in the circuit court, and the circuit court may decide such a motion.

B. Engen's complaint that the State's motion to lift the stay was improper because it was not in writing is meritless.⁶

Engen complains that the State's oral motion to lift the automatic stay was improper because it was not in writing. (Engen's Br. 37.) Engen bases this purported written-motion requirement on Wis. Stat. §§ (Rules) 809.12 and 809.14, which state that a party "shall file a motion." (Engen's Br. 37 (emphasis omitted).) He provides no other support for his argument.

Scott provides that the State "shall have the opportunity to move to lift the stay"; it does not require that such a motion be a written or filed document. 382 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 45 (emphasis added). And, as a general rule, "[a]n application to the court for an order shall be by motion which, unless made during a hearing or trial, shall be made in writing." Wis. Stat. § 802.01(2)(a).

Here, the parties were before the circuit court at a motion hearing, at which the parties argued and the court decided the automatic stay and tolling motions. (R. 173.) In the course of that hearing, at the court's invitation, the State made an oral motion to lift the automatic stay. (R. 173:25–29.) The oral motion was permissible under section 802.01(2)(a) because it was made "during a hearing." Therefore, Engen's claim of error on this ground is meritless.

20

⁶ Because this Court has already granted Engen relief from the circuit court's order lifting the stay, this issue is moot. However, the State addresses Engen's argument on the merits and does not argue mootness here.

C. Engen's complaint that the circuit court's consideration of and ruling on the State's oral motion to lift the stay violated his due process right is arguably meritorious but moot.

Engen also complains that, because the State orally moved to lift the automatic stay without prior notice to Engen, Engen's right to procedural due process was violated. The State concedes that there is arguable merit to this contention. However, this Court has already granted "relief from the circuit court order lifting the automatic stay." (Order 2, Mar. 2, 2020.) Therefore, the issue is moot because Engen has already received the requested relief. *State ex rel. Lindell v. Litscher*, 2005 WI App 39, ¶ 8, 280 Wis. 2d 159, 694 N.W.2d 396. The exceptions to the mootness doctrine do not warrant the Court's review of this issue. *See Fitzgerald*, 387 Wis. 2d 384, ¶ 22.

- IV. The tolling order was legally permissible and consistent with the purpose of the statute.
 - A. The tolling order entered on January 22 will be moot if this Court vacates the involuntary medication order.

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